IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 16 1999

CLERK, SUPREME COURT Chief Deputy Clerk

STANLEY RIDER, Petitioner,)

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent,

DCA CASE NO. 98-850

CASE NO.

95,060

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT

PETITIONER'S JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ROSEMARIE FARRELL ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER Florida Bar Number 0101907 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 Phone: (904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Based upon a jury verdict, the Petitioner was adjudicated guilty of violation of probation, and of two counts of lewd and lascivious assault on a child. (T 238) On March 17, 1998, at sentencing before Judge William C. Johnson, Jr., the Petitioner's probation was revoked in 96-33513 and he was sentenced to twenty four months in prison with credit for three hundred eighty three days time served. (R 1-17, 4-5; 42-43). The Petitioner was also adjudicated guilty in 97-32215 of two counts of lewd and lascivious assault upon a child, second degree felony violations of Section 800.04, Florida Statutes (1997). (R 5, 90-91)

In mitigation of sentence, defense counsel explained that although the State had offered the Petitioner a plea bargain of nine and one half years, the Petitioner could not accept the offer. Rather, because he had maintained his innocence, the Petitioner had gone to trial. (R 5-6) Counsel referred to the less-than compelling case against his client, which had been full of inconsistencies, and noted that the presentencing investigation report recommendation had been for a concurrent sentence of ten years in prison to be followed by probation. (R 5-6)

The Petitioner was sentenced to fifteen years in prison with

credit for three hundred and eighty three days time served on count one (concurrent to 96-33513), to be followed by fifteen years probation on count two. (R 7, 92-95; 96-100) New standard conditions of probation requiring registration as a sex offender, imposing a mandatory curfew, and restricting where the Petitioner might live and work following his release from prison, were read. (R 8-10; 98-99)

As required by Section 948.03(5)a)7, Florida Statutes, the following was among the conditions of probation:

(15) (g) You shall not view or possess any obscene, pornographic or sexually stimulating visual or auditory material, including telephone, electronic media, computer programs or computer services that are relevant to deviant behavior patterns.

(R 10, 11, 98)

Timely appeal was taken raising issues of sufficiency of the evidence, violation of state and federal constitutional rights of the accused at trial, and the unconstitutionality of the statutory condition of probation, due to its overly broad proscriptions upon the exercise of activities protected by the First Amendment of the United States Constitution. In an opinion issued on December 23, 1998, the Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment and sentence of the trial judge.

Rider v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D50 (Fla. 5th DCA December 23, 1998). The opinion rejected the arguments and authorities by the Petitioner that the referenced statutory condition of probation was overly broad, finding that since no objection to the condition was made below, it was not preserved for appellate review. Id., citing Maddox v. state, 708 So.2d 617 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998), rev. granted, 718 So.2d 169 (Fla. 1998); Maxlow v. State, 636 So.2d 548 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994). Maddox holds that the Criminal Appeal Reform Act as codified in Section 924.051, Florida Statutes (1996) has eliminated the concept of fundamental error at least as it had been previously applied to the sentencing context. Id at 619. Maxlow held that a vagueness challenge to a condition requiring no contact with the victim had been waived since it had not been raised with the trial court when it had originally been imposed, or through a motion to strike. Id. at Petitioner's motion for rehearing, rehearing en banc, and certification was denied on February 3, 1999.

The Petitioner, relying upon Thornhill v. Alabama, 310 U.S. 88 (1940); State v. Barnes, 686 So.2d 633 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996) rev. denied, 695 So.2d 698 (Fla.), cert. denied, 118 S.Ct. 257 (1997); Ladd v. State, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1726 (Fla. 1st DCA July 20,

1998); Trushin v. State, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1982); and Jollie v. State, 405 So.2d 418 (Fla. 1981), filed his Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Court on March 5, 1999.

This brief on jurisdiction follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the district court, by citing as controlling authority a case pending review in this Court, directly and expressly conflicts with decisions of this Court or other district courts of appeal on the same issue of law. This express conflict concerns the issue of whether or not fundamental sentencing error must be preserved in order to be subject to appellate review. As the merits of the instant appeal concern the facially unconstitutional prohibitions within the statutory condition of probation, upon freedom of speech protected by the First Amendment of the United States Constitution, the District Court of Appeal opinion in the case *sub judice* directly conflicts with other federal, state, and district court of appeal authority.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT, IN RIDER V. STATE, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D50(Fla. 5th DCA December 23, 1998), EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THE UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT, THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA, AND OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL.

On appeal, the Petitioner challenged the statutory condition of probation which prohibited the viewing, owning, or possessing of "any obscene, pornographic, or sexually stimulating visual or auditory material, including telephone, electronic media, computer programs or computer services that are relevant to deviant behavior pattern," as overly broad restriction of constitutionally protected behavior, and therefore unconstitutional "on its face." Fla. Stat. Section 948.03(5)(a)7 (1997).

The opinion of the Fifth District in the instant case cited two cases as controlling authority for its holding that the overly broad prohibitions on speech required by Fla. Stat.

Section 948.03(5)(a)7 are not preserved for review on appeal:

Maddox v. State, 708 So.2d 617 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998), which case is currently pending review by this Court, and Maxlow v. State, 636

So.2d 548 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994), which case deals with an

inapposite, unpreserved non-facial challenge to a condition of probation. See Ladd v. State, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1726 (Fla. 1st DCA July 20, 1998) (while the constitutionality of a statute on its face may be raised for the first time on appeal, the constitutional application of a statute to a particular set of facts must first be raised in trial court).

In Maddox, in an <u>en banc</u> opinion, the Fifth District Court of Appeal held that The Criminal Appeal Reform Act abolished the concept of fundamental error in the sentencing context. Id.; Fla. Stat. Section 924.051 (1996).

The issue in the instant case concerns a challenge to the facial validity of a statute due to its unconstitutional overbreadth, which federal and State authority holds can be raised for the first time on appeal. See Trushin v. State, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1982) (the facial validity of a statute, including an assertion that the statute is infirm because of overbreadth, can be raised for the first time on appeal); State v. Barnes, 686 So.2d 633 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996) (the doctrine of overbreadth applies only to legislation which is susceptible of application to conduct protected by the First Amendment of the United States Constitution); Thornhill v. Alabama, 310 U.S. 88

(1940) (the existence of a penal statute which sweeps within its ambit activities that in ordinary circumstances constitute an exercise of freedom of speech or of the press, and which readily lends itself to harsh and discriminatory enforcement...results in a continuous and pervasive restraint on all freedom of discussion that might reasonably be regarded as within its purview).

By affirming on the authority of Maddox, the Fifth District Court of Appeal has applied its holding that there is so longer any fundamental error in the sentencing context, to intrusions upon first amendment rights safeguarded by the United States Constitution, and is in direct conflict with corresponding federal and state authority. Ladd v. State., supra; Trushin v. State, supra.; State v. Barnes, supra.; and Thornhill v. Alabama. supra.

Maddox v. State, supra, is currently pending review by this

Court. Therein, the petitioner has argued that that decision

conflicts with State v. Hewitt, 702 So.2d 633 (Fla. 1st DCA

1977); Chojnowski v. State, 705 So.2d 915 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997);

Pryor v. State, 704 So.2d 217 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998) and Callins v.

State, 698 So.2d 883 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997). More recently, the

case also conflicts with Mizell v. State, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1978

(Fla. 3d DCA August 26, 1998).

Pursuant to **Jollie v. State**, 405 So.2d 418 (Fla. 1981), where a case is cited by the district Court as controlling authority and that case is currently pending review by the Supreme Court, conflict jurisdiction will lie.

Thus, this Court's discretionary review should be exercised and the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal reversed.

CONCLUSION

BASED UPON the cases, authorities, and policies cited herein, the petitioner requests that this Honorable Court accept jurisdiction of this cause, vacate the decision of the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, and decide the appeal on the merits.