045

FILED SID J. WHITE

APR & 1000

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT

By

Chief Deputy 3 lerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STANLEY RIDER,

Petitioner,

٧.

CASE NO. 95,060

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BELLE B. TURNER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #397024

KRISTEN L. DAVENPORT
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #909130
444 Seabreeze Blvd.
Fifth Floor
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts of this case were set forth in the opinion below as follows:

Appellant was visiting in the home of Andrew Nichols, a friend. Residing with Nichols at the time was a woman and her two children, and another male housequest. adults spent the evening visiting some bars and drinking, then returned home and drank some more. The children had been in bed and asleep when the adults returned home. twelve year old child victim testified that appellant came into her room, got into her bed and started touching her. She stated that he took off his pants and underwear, took off her clothes, laid on top of her and put his penis in her vagina. He then left the room, but shortly returned, and as the child was trying to get up, made her get back into the bed, rolled her over onto her stomach and 'put his penis into [her] butt.' The child told no one about this until the next day when she told it to Nichols' other friend who convinced her to tell her mother.

Appellant admitted to 'crashing' in the bed in which the child slept, but testified that he was fully clothed and never touched the child. A physician who examined the child the day the alleged attack was reported, testified that there was a two inch tear in the child's vagina, the area was bloody and tender, and there was evidence of dried secretions. The outside area of the thighs and buttocks showed a lot of redness and irritation. The doctor testified that these findings were of rather recent origin, within the past twenty-four hours.

Rider v. State, 24 Fla. L. Wkly. D50 (Fla. 5th DCA Dec. 23, 1998).

Rider was convicted of two counts of lewd and lascivious assault on a child. On appeal, the district court rejected his claims of insufficient evidence and error in witness sequestration,

and found that his claim of an over-broad probation condition was not properly preserved for appeal. <u>Id</u>.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The opinion of the district court does not expressly and directly conflict with any other decision. While the district court did cite a case which is pending review in this Court, that case was not cited as controlling authority but was only cited in a string citation for a general principle of law. The issue pending review in the cited case is wholly unrelated to the issue ruled upon in this case. Accordingly, jurisdiction is not warranted here.

ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD NOT ACCEPT JURISDICTION IN THIS CASE.

This Court has jurisdiction under article V, section (3) (b) (3) of the Florida Constitution where a decision of a district court "expressly and directly conflicts" with a decision of this Court or another district court. This Court has repeatedly held that such conflict must be express and direct, that is, "it must appear within the four corners of the majority decision." Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986).

Here, Rider contends that the decision of the district court conflicts with several other opinions in finding that his challenge to the probation condition was not preserved for appeal. The decisions cited by Rider hold that a statute may be challenged as facially unconstitutional, on First Amendment grounds, even where such a challenge was never raised below.

Contrary to Rider's argument, the opinion below does not conflict with these cases. The district court here never mentions a First Amendment challenge, not does the court reject the basic principle that a challenge to the facial constitutionality of a statute may be raised for the first time on appeal. Rather, the court simply rejects as unpreserved Rider's argument that the probation condition is "overly broad and could result in violation of probation for nonsubstantial and unintentional activities." Rider, 24 Fla. L. Wkly. at D50. This ruling has nothing to do with

the cases cited by Rider, and certainly does not conflict with them.

In reaching its conclusion that Rider's argument was not preserved for appeal, the district court cited its prior opinion in Maddox v. State, 708 So. 2d 617 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998), which is presently pending review in this Court -- 718 So. 2d 169 (Fla. 1998) (case # 92,805).

Where the district court's decision is a per curiam opinion which cites as controlling law a decision that is pending review in this Court, this Court has the discretion to accept jurisdiction.

Jollie v. State, 405 So. 2d 418, 420 (Fla. 1981). Rider relies on this decision in arguing that this Court should exercise jurisdiction here, based on the district court's cite to Maddox.

The State acknowledges that this Court arguably has the authority to accept jurisdiction of this case in light of the district court's citation to Maddox. Given the circumstances of the instant case, however, the State submits that this Court should decline to exercise jurisdiction here.

The district court's decision in <u>Maddox</u> is a far-ranging discussion of the effect of the Criminal Appeal Reform Act, in which the court concluded that under the Reform Act there is no longer fundamental error in sentencing — all sentencing error must be preserved below. 708 So. 2d 617. It is this issue — the ramifications of the Reform Act — which is pending before this Court in <u>Maddox</u>.

Here, however, the court's decision had nothing to do with the implications of the Reform Act. It was established well before the Reform Act was ever passed that a defendant must object to probation conditions in order to complain about such conditions on appeal, as recognized in Maxlow v. State, 636 So. 2d 548 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994), which was cited by the court below.

Because the district court did not actually rely upon Maddox as controlling authority on the issue presented on appeal, but only used Maddox in a string citation for a general proposition of law, Jollie should not form a basis for jurisdiction here.

There is no express and direct conflict between this case and any other case, and this Court should therefore decline to accept jurisdiction.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein, respondent respectfully requests this honorable Court decline to accept jurisdiction of this case.